
A
G

EN
D

A
 

O
U

TSTA
N

D
IN

G
 

A
C

TIO
N

S
STR

A
TEG

IC
 

M
A

T
TER

S
C

A
SE R

EP
O

R
TS 

FR
O

M
 P

SC

 

 

 
 

 

MINUTES Meeting date: Monday 31 March 2025 

 
IN ATTENDANCE ONLINE  
Members: 

• Suzanne Vestri (Convener) 

• Malcolm Bell 

• Helen Donaldson 

• Morag Ferguson 

• Lezley Stewart 

Executive Team: 

• Lorna Johnston (Executive Director) (all except items 12-15) 

• Richard Wilson (Case Manager) (items 12-15 only) 

ITEM CONTENT ACTION 

STANDING ITEMS 

1.  APOLOGIES 
The Convener welcomed Mr Bell to his first meeting of the Standards Commission. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

 
  

2.  MATTERS ARISING 
Members noted all matters arising from the last meeting, on 27 January 2025, were complete. 
 

 
 
 

CONSENT ITEMS 

3.  DRAFT MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
Members reviewed and approved the minute of the meeting on 27 January 2025.   
 

 
 

STRATEGIC MATTERS 

4.  PROMOTING THE ETHICAL STANDARDS FRAMEWORK AND UPDATE ON OUTREACH WORK 
Members noted the outreach work undertaken since the last meeting. Members noted, in 

particular, that since the last meeting: 

• The Convener appeared before the SPCB Supported Bodies Landscape Review Committee 

on 30 January 2025.  

• The Executive Director and Case Manager conducted a joint webinar on 30 January 2025, 

with the Improvement Service, for elected members on quasi-judicial and regulatory 

decision-making. 

• The Convener had attended the Scottish Government’s Seminar on Public Sector Reform in 

Glasgow on 17 February 2025. 

• The Executive Director presented on the Model Code to Board Members of the Crofting 

Commission on 26 February 2025. 

• The Executive Director and Mrs Stewart presented on the Councillors’ Code to elected 

members of East Lothian Council in Haddington on 13 March 2025.  

• The Executive Director and Case Manager presented a session on certain aspects of the 

Model Code to members of the Scottish Environmental Protection Agency on 24 March 

2025. 

 

Following a consultation, a new Advice Note for Councillors on Making Quasi-Judicial and 

Regulatory Decisions and an amended version of the Guidance on the Councillors’ Code of 

Conduct were issued and published on 3 March 2025. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

Members further noted that the Standards Commission has been asked to present on: 

• The Councillors’ Code to elected members of Dumfries and Galloway Council in Dumfries on 

16 May 2025. Members agreed Ms Vestri would accompany and support the Executive 

Director to deliver the training. 

• The Model Code to board members of Ayrshire College in Kilmarnock on 2 September 

2025. Members agreed the Executive Team would deliver the training 

Members agreed that their further involvement in training delivery would be beneficial to 

support staff, vary the training delivery and enable direct engagement with those attending 

events. It was agreed that Members would accompany staff to deliver training whenever possible 

(given the constraints of their contracted hours). 

 

Members noted that at one of its regular meetings with the Executive Team, the Local 

Government Policy and Relationships Unit advised that the Scottish Government was still 

considering the inclusion of questions about confidence in councillors and local authorities in 

forthcoming annual Scottish Household Surveys. The Local Government Policy and Relationships 

Unit advised that as the National Performance Framework was being overhauled, a full review of 

the questions posed would be undertaken and, as such, it was unlikely that any new questions 

would be included in the next two annual surveys. 

 

Members noted the progress made against the 2025 Communications Plan and, in particular, 

that new pages for the public and media had been created and published on the website. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.  SCORING FOR 2025/26 RISK REGISTER 
Members noted the content of the Risk Register for 2025/26 had been agreed by email. 
 
Members reviewed and agreed suggested probability and impact scores for the current 
assessment of each individual risk, noting in particular the organisational risks posed by reliance 
on such a small staff team. Members further agreed the target scores for each risk. Members 
noted that actions taken to mitigate risk and reduce the scores would be formally reviewed by 
the Audit and Risk Committee, and thereafter by the Standards Commission, at meetings in May. 
 

 
 

BUSINESS MATTERS 

6.  REVIEW OF ENQUIRIES RECEIVED IN 2024/25 
Members noted that during the period 1 April 2024 to 17 March 2025, the Executive Team 
received 173 enquiries, which was 44 more than the number of enquiries received during the 
last, comparable review period (being from 1 February 2023 to 31 January 2024). 
 
Members noted that, as with the last review period, the largest number of enquiries concerned 
the declaration and registration of interests, and the extent of the Councillors’ and Model Codes 
of Conduct. 
 
Members were pleased to note that as with the previous review period, all enquiries were 
responded to timeously, with responses to 170 out of 174 (98%) of enquiries being provided on 
the same day of receipt or within one working day, which was well within the timescales detailed 
in the Standards Commission’s Service Charter. 
 

 
 

7.  MEMBERSHIP OF STANDARDS COMMISSION’S AUDIT & RISK AND HUMAN RESOURCES 
COMMITTEES  
Following Mr Bell’s recruitment, Members agreed to appoint the following Members to the 
Standards Commissions Audit and Risk, and Human Resources Committees: 
 
Audit and Risk Committee: Ms Donaldson (Chair) and Mr Bell 
Human Resources Committee: Mrs Ferguson (Chair) and Mrs Stewart 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

 
Members agreed that the next Human Resources Committee should be moved from April to early 
May 2025, to facilitate the availability of committee members and to allow Mrs Ferguson time to 
hold informal one to one meetings with all staff. 
 
Members also agreed that, owing to Mr Bell’s unavailability for the July meeting of Audit & Risk 
Committee, that Ms Stewart (as a previous committee member) would act as substitute. 
 

 
Executive 
Team 

8.  TOPICS FOR MEMBERS’ DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING SESSION ON 28 APRIL 2025 
Members noted their next training and development session was due to be held on 28 April 2025.  
 
Members agreed the first half of the development session should be used to conduct a review of 
the decisions made, both on case referrals and at Hearings in 2024/25 to: 

• check for quality, clarity and consistency; and 

• identify any areas for improvement in terms of decision-making. 
 

In addition, Members agreed the Executive Team should provide refresher training on the 
Application of Sanctions Policy. 
 
Members agreed the Executive Team should use the second half of the session to provide 
information and refresher training on various governance matters, including the: 

• Standing Orders 

• Scheme of Delegation 

• Retention and Disposal Policies; and 

• Policies and procedures for data protection and for dealing with freedom of information 
and subject access requests. 
 

 Members also noted that future Training and Development Sessions would be held in June (after 
the meeting with the ESC) and in November and agreed to come to the next meeting with 
suggestions for content. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

9.  FORMAT OF ANNUAL REPORT AND DRAFT SECTION 3 
Members agreed the structure to be adopted for the Annual Report for 2024/25. Subject to 

some minor corrections (to be identified by email), Members further agreed the content of 

Section 3, which comprises of a description as to how the Standards Commission has had a 

positive impact on ethical standards in public life through its: 

• engagement with stakeholders; 

• promotional activity; and 

• training work and educational material. 

 
Members agreed that it would be helpful to issue surveys to attendees of Standards Commission 
workshops and training events to further measure the organisation’s impact. Members asked the 
Executive Team to prepare survey questions to be issued after events. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

10.  MARCH 2025 QUARTERLY STANDARDS UPDATE 
Subject to some minor amendments, Members approved the Standards Update to be issued and 
published on 31 March 2025. 
 

 
Executive 
Team 

11.  CASE MANAGEMENT AT PRE-HEARING MEETINGS  
Members noted that they had agreed, at a development day in February 2025, to use pre-Hearing 
meetings to ensure parties to Hearings, being the Ethical Standards Commissioner (ESC), the 
Respondent and their representatives, understood the Panel’s expectations in terms of what was 
relevant and how long they should be taking to question witnesses and present their cases. This 
was to ensure that Hearings were conducted as efficiently as possible, and the time spent was 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
 

proportionate to the complexity, seriousness of the allegations and any matters that were in 
dispute.  
 
Ms Ferguson noted that she had adopted this approach successfully at a pre-Hearing meeting 
held for case LA/H/3969.  
 

 
 
 

CASES UPDATE 

12.  REPORTS FROM THE ESC & SECTION 14 LETTERS 
(a) LA/As/4125: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an Aberdeenshire Councillor. 
 
(b) LA/H/3964: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Highland Councillor. 

 

(c) LA/SI/4102:  Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Shetland Islands Councillor. 

 

(d) LA/Fa/3910: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Falkirk 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(e) LA/DG/4198: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a Dumfries and Galloway Councillor. 
 

(f) LA/Mo/4145: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Moray 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(g) LA/G/4174: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Glasgow City Councillor. 

 

(h) LA/NL/4214: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a North Lanarkshire Councillor. 

 

(i) LA/An/4107: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an Angus Councillor. 

 

(j) LA/NL/3972: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a North Lanarkshire Councillor.  

 

(k) LA/AC/3990: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an Aberdeen City Councillor. 

 

(l) LA/S/4159: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Stirling Councillor 
under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(m)LA/An/4044: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an Angus Councillor. 

 

(n) LA/Mo/4145: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a Moray Councillor. 

 

(o) LA/As/4024: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Aberdeenshire 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(p) LA/NL/4187: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a North Lanarkshire Councillor. 

 



5 
 

 

(q) NB/PIC/4015: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a former member of the Poverty and Inequality Commission. 

 

(r) LA/WL/4205: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a West Lothian Councillor. 

 

(s) NB/CC/4135: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a former member of the Crofting Commission. 

 

(t) FEC/SL/3659: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on three reports 
received from the ESC about former members of South Lanarkshire College. 

 

(u) LA/An/4168: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Angus 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(v) LA/WL/4204: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a West Lothian Councillor. 

 

(w) LA/H/4028: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Highland 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(x) LA/G/4157:  Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Glasgow City Councillor. 
 

13.  CASES 
(a) LA/AC/3986: Members noted that a Hearing was held online on 4 February 2025. The 
Respondent was found not to have breached the Code. 

 

(b) LA/NL/3979: Members noted that North Lanarkshire Council had confirmed that it had 
formally considered a decision the Standards Commission made at a Hearing held on 23 October 
2024. 

 

(c) LA/AB/3953: Members noted that a Hearing was held online and in private on 19 February 
2025. The Respondent was found to have breached the Code and was suspended. 

 

(d) LA/H/4078: Members noted that a Hearing was held online on 26 March 2025. The 
Respondent was found to have breached the Code and was censured. 
 
(e) LA/H/3969: Members noted that a Hearing had been scheduled to take place on 25 March 
2025. Following adjournment requests from both the ESC and Respondent, the Hearing was now 
scheduled to take place on 15 April 2025 at the Council Headquarters, Inverness. 

 

(f) NB/CC/3976: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 30 April 2025 at 
the Highland Council Headquarters, Inverness. 

 

(g) LA/Fa/3910: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 5 June 2025. The 
venue is to be confirmed. 

 

(h) LA/AC/3994: Members noted a decision on the referral was yet to be made. 
 

 

14.  INVESTIGATIONS EXCEEDING 3 MONTHS – INTERIM REPORTS 
(a) LA/G/4115: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than three months 
to investigate. 

 
 
 
 



6 
 

 
(b) LA/An/4044: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Angus Councillor had taken more than six months to 
investigate. 

 
(c) LA/DG/4041: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a Dumfries and Galloway Councillor had taken more than 
six months to investigate. 

 

(d) LA/H/4113: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Highland Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 

 

(e) LA/AB/4081: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about and Argyll and Bute Councillor had taken more than six 
months to investigate. 

 

(f) NB/PIC/4015: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a former member of the Poverty and Inequality 
Commission had taken more than six months to investigate. 

 

(g) LA/NL/3972: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a North Lanarkshire Councillor had taken more than nine 
months to investigate. 

 

(h) LA/G/4139: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than three months 
to investigate. 

 

(i) LA/An/4107: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Angus Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 

 

(j) LA/AB/4099: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Argyll and Bute Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(k) LA/G/4182: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than three months 
to investigate. 

 

(l) LA/EL/4126: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an East Lothian Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 
 
(m) LA/Fi/4101: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Fife Councillor had taken more than six months to 
investigate. 
 
(n) LA/WL/4188:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a West Lothian Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 



7 
 

(o) LA/NA/4086:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a North Ayrshire Councillor had taken more than six 
months to investigate. 

 

(p) LA/AC/4206:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about an Aberdeen City Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(q) LA/Fa/4202:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a Falkirk Councillor had taken more than three months 
to investigate. 

 

(r) LA/AB/4147:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about an Argyll and Bute Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(s) NPA/LLT/4184:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a Loch Lomond and Trossachs National Park Authority 
member had taken more than three months to investigate. 

 

(t) LA/G/4160: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than three months 
to investigate. 

 

(u) LA/WL/3903:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a West Lothian Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(v) LA/NA/4080:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a North Ayrshire Councillor had taken more than six 
months to investigate. 
 

15.  FEEDBACK INCLUDING ANY HEARINGS SURVEY RESPONSES 
(a) Members noted the Hearing Survey received on 19 February 2025. 

 
(b) Members noted the feedback received from the Monitoring Officer of East Lothian Council 
following a training session delivered by the Executive Director and Ms Stewart. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

16.  BUSINESS CASE FOR INCREASE IN HOURS AND RE-GRADING OF CASE MANAGER ROLE 
Members agreed a business case seeking funding from the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate 
Body (SPCB) for an increase in hours (from 25 to 35 hours a week), and a change in grading from 
a grade 4 to a grade 5, for the Case Manager role. This was to ensure the Standards Commission 
has the resources and capacity to continue to fulfil its statutory duties, and to successfully meet 
its strategic and operational objectives and the needs and expectations of its stakeholders. In 
particular, the proposed change was sought to ensure the Standards Commission could deal 
effectively with the: 

• increase in the number of cases referrals; and 

• expansion of its training and outreach work. 
 
Members asked the Executive Director to submit the business case to the SPCB to seek additional 
funding to support a grade 5 post and additional hours.  
 
Members also agreed that the Human Resources Committee would review the Standards 
Commission’s process for job evaluation and grading. 

 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



8 
 

 

 
REPORT FROM INFORMATION COMMISSIONER’S OFFICE 
Members noted that a service user had referred a data breach to the Information Commissioner’s 
Office. The Information Commissioner’s office had advised the Standards Commission, by email, 
that it considered the breach presented a low-level risk and was satisfied with steps that had 
been taken to remedy the situation. Members noted it was unclear, from the email whether the 
Information Commissioner considered the Standards Commission should have reported the 
matter, despite also having assessed it as low-risk. Members noted clarity on this had been 
sought and that the Executive Team would update them on receipt of a response. 
 
ANY EMERGING RISKS  
None identified. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT SCS MEETING 
Members agreed to advise the Executive Director of any items to be included in the agenda for 
discuss at the next meeting. 
 

 
 
Executive 
Team 

17.  2025/26 DIARY DATES AND WORKPLAN 
Members noted the diary dates and ongoing workplan.  
 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
Members noted that the next meeting of the Standards Commission was scheduled to take place 
online on Monday, 26 May 2025.  
 

 
 
 


